Wilfrid Laurier University

# Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2017

# The Effect of Twist on the Mechanical Properties of the Intervertebral Disc

Maxine Harvey-Burgess harv8610@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd

Part of the Biomechanics and Biotransport Commons, and the Musculoskeletal Diseases Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Harvey-Burgess, Maxine, "The Effect of Twist on the Mechanical Properties of the Intervertebral Disc" (2017). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 1958. https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1958

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

The Effect of Twist on the Mechanical Properties of the Intervertebral Disc

Maxine Harvey-Burgess

Under the supervision of

Dr. Diane Gregory

Submitted to the Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education, in fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of Master of Kinesiology

Wilfrid Laurier University

August 2017

## Abstract

**Introduction:** Intervertebral disc (IVD) herniation is a common injury to the IVD and a frequent source of low back pain. IVD herniation occurs when the nucleus pulposus migrates through both the inter- and intralamellar matrices of the annulus fibrosus (AF). There are a number of mechanical risk factors associated with herniation, including repetitive flexion and twist. In vivo, twist combined with repetitive flexion has been associated with increased experience of low back pain and herniation. Additionally, *in vitro*, when repetitive flexion is combined with twist, IVD herniation occurs more easily than repetitive flexion alone. However, the mechanisms behind this relationship are not well understood. Therefore, the purpose of the current study was to determine the effect of twist on the mechanical properties of the inter- and intralamellar matrices. Methods: Thirty-six bovine IVDs from the caudal region were exposed to a combination of either 0° or 12° of static twist and 0N or 1000N of compression for two hours. Following mechanical loading, three samples were dissected from each disc. One sample, containing at least two adjacent layers of the AF, was mechanically delaminated to measure interlamellar matrix strength. The variables of interest from this test were adhesion peel strength and peel strength variability. The other two samples were single layers of the AF which were mechanically tested in tension until failure. The single layer samples were pulled perpendicular to the orientation of the collagen fibres in order to measure intralamellar matrix strength. The variables of interest from the single layer tensile test were the stress and strain at the end of the toe region, Young's modulus, and the yield point. Finally, one IVD per condition underwent histological analysis in order to visually assess any damage within the AF.

**Results:** There were significant differences between the twisted and untwisted samples on the mechanical properties of the intralamellar matrix. Specifically, lower stress at the end of the toe region (p=0.006), lower Young's moduli (p=0.010), and lower yield points (p<0.001) were observed in the twisted samples compared to the untwisted samples. Additionally, histological analysis demonstrated more disruption within individual lamellae of the twisted samples compared to the untwisted samples. However, there were no significant differences between the twisted and untwisted samples on the mechanical properties of the interlamellar matrix. Additionally, there was no effect of compression on the inter- or intralamellar matrices.

**Discussion and Conclusion:** Twist, regardless of compression exposure, negatively affected the strength of the intralamellar matrix. This may explain why, when twist is combined with repetitive flexion, the occurrence of IVD herniation is accelerated compared to repetitive flexion alone. A mechanism of IVD herniation is migration through the AF layers via clefts within the intralamellar matrix, therefore, if the intralamellar matrix is weakened, such as from twist, then this progression will occur more easily and thus herniation will occur more easily. These findings suggest that twist may put the IVD at an increased risk for injury as a result of damage to the intralamellar matrix.

# Acknowledgments

First, I would like to acknowledge my supervisor, Dr. Diane Gregory. Without your guidance and support this project would not have been possible. Thank you for your confidence in me as it allowed me to develop my own confidence. I also appreciated your excellent poker face. Finally, thank you for adding an element of fun to this experience.

I would also like to thank my thesis advisory committee members, Dr. Michael Cinelli, Dr. Stephen Perry, and Dr. Janessa Drake for their interest and advice.

I would like to acknowledge my friends within the Master's program. Thank you for making my time in Waterloo so great by accompanying me on countless 'adventures'. Your support does not go unnoticed. I would also like to acknowledge my lab mate Brigitte. You understood the ups and downs of this experience like no one else. Merci beaucoup.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my family. In particular, thank you to my parents for allowing me to pursue whichever path I wanted and for providing unconditional love and support. Thank you for showing me the value of an education, but more importantly an appreciation for knowledge and curiosity. Lastly, thank you for always bringing my stress levels down and my mood up.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	X
1. Introduction	1
1.1 General Anatomy	2
1.1.1 Intervertebral Disc	
1.1.1.1 Annulus Fibrosus	
1.1.1.2 Nucleus Pulposus	6
1.2 IVD Biomechanics	6
1.2.1 Stress-Strain Relationship	6
1.2.2 Tensile Properties	
1.3 Bovine Model for Human IVD Biomechanics	
1.3.1 Anatomy	
1.3.2 Biology	
1.3.3 Biomechanical Properties	
1.4 IVD Herniation	
1.4.1 Risk Factors	
1.4.1.1 Twist	
2. Purpose & Hypotheses	19
3. Methods	
3.1 Specimens	
3.2 FSU Loading Protocol	
3.3 Annulus Fibrosus Mechanical Testing Protocol	
3.3.1 Tensile Testing of the Intralamellar Matrix	
3.3.2 Tensile Testing of the Interlamellar Matrix	
3.4 Endplate Geometry Measurements	
3.5 Histological Analysis	
3.6 Data Analysis	
3.6.1 Single Layer (intralamellar matrix) Tensile Test	
3.6.2 Peel test	
3.7 Statistical Analysis	
4. Results	
4.1 Single Laver (intralamellar matrix) Tensile Properties	
4.1.1 Effect of Twist	
4.1.2 Effect of Compression	
4.1.3 Effect of Twist Combined with Compression	
4.2 Peel Test (interlamellar matrix) Properties	
4.3 Histological Analysis	
5 Discussion	20
5.1 Devisiting the Durness and Hypetheses	
J.1 Kevising the 1 th pose and 119 potheses	

5.2 Effect of Twist on the Interlamella	r Matrix	40
5.3 Effect of Twist on the Intralamella	r Matrix	
5.4 Effect of Compression on the Inter	- and Intralamellar Matrices	44
5.5 Limitations		46
5.6 Future Directions		47
6. Conclusion		49
References		50

# List of Tables

<b>Table 1.</b> Average single layer sample thickness and cross-sectional area for each exposure condition. No significant differences were observed between the conditions	25
<b>Table 2.</b> Average values for the variables of interest from the single layer tensile tests collapse across compression exposure for untwisted and twisted samples. Significant differences identified with an asterisk (p<0.05).	d 33
<b>Table 3.</b> Average values for the variables of interest from the single layer tensile tests collapse across twist exposure for uncompressed and compressed samples. No significant main effect of compression was observed (p>0.05).	d 34
<b>Table 4.</b> Average values for the variables of interest of the peel test collapsed acrosscompression exposure (control vs compressed) for untwisted and twisted samples. Nosignificant main effect of twist was observed for either variable (p>0.05).	35
<b>Table 5.</b> Average values for the variables of interest of the peel test collapsed across twist exposure for uncompressed and compressed samples. No significant main effect of compression was observed for either variable (p>0.05).	35

# List of Figures

<b>Figure 1.</b> Healthy intervertebral disc including the nucleus pulposus, annulus fibrosus, and endplates. Image adapted from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission
<b>Figure 2.</b> The orientation of the AF with alternating angles in adjacent layers. Image from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission
<b>Figure 3.</b> The orientation of the collagen fibres of the AF during twist. Image from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission
Figure 4. A typical stress-strain curve demonstrating the toe region, linear region, and plastic region
<b>Figure 5.</b> Illustration of the migration pattern of the NP through the AF during herniation. Image reproduced from Gregory (2009), with permission
<b>Figure 6.</b> A) Sagittal view of an FSU in twist using the custom twisting jig. Arrow indicates direction of twist. B) Transverse view of an FSU in twist using the custom twisting jig. C) Custom twisting jig indicating the pin (circled in black) used to indicate degrees
Figure 7. An FSU in twist using the custom twisting jig and mounted in the MTS. Arrow indicates direction of twist
<b>Figure 8.</b> The orientation of the collagen fibres of the AF during twist where the red rectangle represents a dissected single layer oriented in the direction of twist. Image adapted from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission
<b>Figure 10.</b> Single layer sample mounted via rakes with tension being applied perpendicular to the collagen fibres. Note the orientation of collagen fibres represented by the orange arrow.
Figure 11. Tissue bond width was measured for each sample. Note the black arrow indicating the tissue bond width
Figure 12. AF sample clamped at the manually created tabs during the T-peel test
<b>Figure 13.</b> Stress-strain curve of a single layer tensile test indicating variables of interest: A) stress at the end of the toe region, B) strain at the end of the toe region, C) Young's modulus (slope of linear region), and D) yield point
Figure 14. A typical peel stress-displacement curve obtained from a T-peel test

Figure 15. Average stress at the end of the toe region for each condition. Blue represents untwisted samples and red represents twisted samples. Significant differences identified by an asterisks. No significant interaction between compression and twist was observed. Standard error bars shown. Note the stress-strain curve indicating the variable of interest with a red asterisk (stress at the end of the toe region). 32
<b>Figure 16</b> . Average Young's modulus for each condition. Blue represents untwisted samples and red represents twisted samples. Significant differences identified by an asterisk. No significant interaction between compression and twist was observed. Standard error bars shown. Note the stress-strain curve indicating the variable of interest with a red circle (Young's modulus)
<b>Figure 17</b> . Average yield point for each condition. Blue represents untwisted samples and red represents twisted samples. Significant differences identified by an asterisk. No significant interaction between compression and twist was observed. Standard error bar shown. Note the stress-strain curve indicating the variable of interest with a red asterisk
<b>Figure 18.</b> Interaction between twist exposure and compression exposure for strain at the end of the toe region (p=0.022). Significant differences between conditions identified with an asterisk (p<0.05). Standard error bars shown
<b>Figure 19.</b> IVDs exposed to (A) control, (B) compression-only, (C) twist-only, and (D) combination loading stained with H&E to show type I (pink) and type II (purple) collagen fibres and damage to the AF. Scale bar: 10mm
<b>Figure 20.</b> A section of IVDs exposed to (A) control, (B) compression-only, (C) twist-only, and (D) combination loading stained with H&E showing delamination between layers and disruption within a single layer. Scale bar: 2mm
<b>Figure 21.</b> Representative stress-strain curves of a single layer tensile test from a twisted and an untwisted IVD. Note the lower toe region stress, Young's modulus, and yield point in the twisted sample

# List of Abbreviations

AF	Annulus fibrosus
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Ca	Caudal
FSU	Functional spine unit
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
IAF	Inner annulus fibrosus
IVD	Intervertebral disc
LBP	Low back pain
NP	Nucleus pulposus
OAF	Outer annulus fibrosus
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
ROM	Range of motion

#### 1. Introduction

Low back pain (LBP), occurring in the lumbar region of the spine, is prevalent in Canada and considered to be one of the greatest contributors to global disability (Hoy et al., 2014). LBP can have serious consequences, both physical and mental, and affects both the lifestyle of the suffering individual as well as the productivity of the employee. One common source of pain in the low back region is the intervertebral disc (IVD); the soft fibrous structure found between each adjacent vertebrae in the spinal column. The IVD contains the nucleus pulposus (NP) surrounded by the multi-layered annulus fibrosus (AF). Within the AF there are two structures which both have important adhesive properties: the interlamellar matrix and the intralamellar matrix is the area between collagen fibres of a single layer of the AF. Herniation, a common injury to the IVD, occurs when the NP breaks through the layers of the AF through both the inter- and intralamellar matrices (Gooyers, McMillan, Noguchi, Quadrilatero, & Callaghan, 2015).

One prominent risk factor that has been associated with IVD herniation and LBP is twist. When combined with flexion, twist has been shown to contribute to LBP (Kelsey et al., 1984). *In vitro*, twist combined with flexion has been shown to increase the risk of IVD herniation and damage to the AF (Drake, Aultman, McGill, & Callaghan, 2005; Marshall & McGill, 2010; Schmidt et al., 2007; Veres, Robertson, & Broom, 2010). However, the mechanisms behind the relationship between twist and this observed increased risk of IVD herniation in combined loading scenarios is poorly understood. Therefore, it is important to study twist in isolation to determine these potential mechanisms. The proceeding review of literature summarizes the

research that has focused on ascertaining the mechanisms of IVD herniation as well as the biomechanical risk factors associated with this injury. It reveals a need for further research in the area of twist as a risk factor and its influence on the IVD.

# **1.1 General Anatomy**

The function of the spine is to provide mobility and flexibility to the body, support the weight of the body and any externally applied loads, and protect the spinal cord. The spine is composed of multiple bony vertebrae separated by IVDs. It consists of five regions: the cervical region consisting of 7 vertebrae, the thoracic region consisting of 12 vertebrae, the lumbar region consisting of 5 vertebrae, the sacrum consisting of several fused vertebrae, and the coccyx.

The lumbar spine is particularly important and susceptible to damage as it must bear most of the upper body weight and forces generated by the trunk musculature. Further, the lumbar spine permits some movement including bending and twisting (Bogduk, 2005). Within the lumbar spine, a functional spine unit (FSU) consists of two adjacent vertebrae and the IVD between them. In twist, important components of the FSU and its ability to move are the facet joints consisting of the inferior articular processes of the upper vertebrae and the superior articular processes of the lower vertebrae. The orientation of the facets in the lumbar region are more acute to the sagittal plane, with the facets facing each other, compared to those in the cervical and thoracic regions in which they are more obliquely oriented, facing more posteriorly (Adams, Bogduk, Burton, & Dolan, 2013). This more acute orientation in the lumbar region permits lateral bending but limits twisting of an FSU because the facets come in contact with one another during rotation (Bogduk, 2005; Gunzburg, Hutton, & Fraser, 1991; Pearcy & Hindle, 1991). In humans, the range of motion (ROM) of one FSU in the lumbar spine in twist is

approximately 2-5° (Gunzburg et al., 1991; Li et al, 2009). It has been hypothesized that this is largely due to the facet joints (Adams & Hutton, 1983). Despite limited ROM of a lumbar FSU in twist, certain variables can increase this range and potentially increase the risk of damage to the IVD. When the spine is in flexion, the spacing between the facets increases which can increase the FSU's ROM in twist (Drake, Dobson, & Callaghan, 2008; Hindle & Pearcy, 1988; Pearcy & Hindle 1991). Additionally, Adams & Hutton (1981) concluded that thinning of the articular cartilage of the facet joints may also increase the ROM in twist.

# 1.1.1 Intervertebral Disc

As mentioned previously, the IVD is comprised of the inner nucleus pulposus (NP) which is surrounded by the multi-layered collagenous AF and cartilaginous vertebral endplates (Figure 1). During twist, the IVD is exposed to not only motion, but also twisting torque, potentially increasing the risk of injury.



**Figure 1.** Healthy intervertebral disc including the nucleus pulposus, annulus fibrosus, and endplates. Image adapted from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission.

#### 1.1.1.1 Annulus Fibrosus

The AF is made up of approximately 15-25 layers of lamellae (Cassidy, Hiltner, & Baer, 1989; Marchand &Ahmed, 1990) that function to bear load applied to the IVD. Lamellae are made up of multiple collagen fibres bound tightly together that lie parallel to one another within each lamella. The AF is divided into two regions: the outer annulus fibrosus (OAF) and the inner annulus fibrosus (IAF). The collagen fibres of the OAF are primarily type I which are designed to resist tensile forces (Hayes, Benjamin, & Ralphs, 2001). The type of collagen gradually transitions from type I collagen in the OAF to primarily type II collagen in the IAF (Eyre & Muir, 1976). Unlike type I collagen, type II collagen is designed to resist compressive forces (Hayes et al., 2001). The collagen fibres within the OAF are highly organized compared to those in the IAF. The low level of organization in the IAF in addition to the high proportion of type II collagen fibres makes distinction between the IAF and the NP difficult (Yu et al., 2007).

As mentioned, the collagen fibres within a single lamellae lie parallel to one another, however, they are obliquely oriented to the transverse plane of the spine at angles between 28° and 45° (Holzapfel, Schulze-Bauer, Feigl, & Regitnig, 2005; Vergari et al 2016). Additionally, the orientation of collagen fibres in adjacent lamellae are approximately perpendicular to one another, creating a ply structure that allows the AF to resist multiple loading conditions and directions (Figure 2). In compression, the incline of the collagen fibres becomes more horizontal (Guerin & Elliot, 2006). In twist, the lamellae oriented in the direction of the applied twist are stretched and stressed, while the other half of the lamellae oriented in the opposite direction are more relaxed (Klein & Hukins, 1982; van Deursen, Snijders, Kingma, & van Dieën, 2001) (Figure 3).



**Figure 2.** The orientation of the AF with alternating angles in adjacent layers. Image from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission.



**Figure 3.** The orientation of the collagen fibres of the AF during twist. Image from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission.

The extracellular matrix between adjacent lamellae is the interlamellar matrix. The interlamellar matrix allows for adhesion between adjacent lamellae and therefore prevents delamination, or the separation of these layers. The interlamellar matrix is composed primarily of type VI collagen, proteoglycans, and elastin (Melrose, Smith, Appleyard, & Little, 2008). Pezowicz, Robertson, and Broom (2006) demonstrated a complex collagen bridging network within the interlamellar matrix that they concluded contributes to the strong adhesion between

adjacent lamellae. A similar network was found in the intralamellar matrix, which is the extracellular matrix between adjacent collagen fibres within a single lamella, contributing to the adhesion between adjacent collagen fibres (Pezowicz, Robertson, & Broom, 2005). The intralamellar matrix is also composed primarily of type VI collagen, proteoglycans, and elastin (Melrose et al., 2008).

# 1.1.1.2 Nucleus Pulposus

The NP is a much more gelatinous and hydrated structure than the AF, composed primarily of type II collagen, proteoglycans, and water (Lundon & Bolton, 2001). Proteoglycans contribute to the NP's hydration and hydrostatic pressure because they are hydrophilic, meaning their chemical structure attracts water into the NP (Lundon & Bolton, 2001). This allows the NP to redistribute applied load to the AF and the vertebral endplates.

# **1.2 IVD Biomechanics**

The IVD has unique biomechanical properties which enable it to be an important weight bearing structure and provide some mobility to the spine. One important property is that the IVD is anisotropic, in part due to the ply structure of the AF. This means that its mechanical properties are directionally dependent, allowing them to change depending on the direction of loading.

#### 1.2.1 Stress-Strain Relationship

A common method to quantify these mechanical properties utilizes the stress-strain relationship. Stress is the force per unit area experienced within a tissue due to an externally applied load. Strain is the degree of deformation in a tissue when under an applied load. The stress-strain relationship can be represented by a normalized force-displacement curve. Force is

normalized to the cross-sectional area of the tissue to become stress (expressed in force per unit area). This allows normalization by tissue area as more force is required to deform a larger tissue sample than a smaller one. Displacement is normalized to the original length of the tissue sample to become strain because a longer sample will have greater absolute displacement at a given force than a shorter sample.

A stress-strain curve typically has three regions: an initial non-linear region termed the toe region, a linear region termed the elastic region, and a second non-linear region termed the plastic region (Figure 4). When studying the IVD, the toe region represents the uncrimping of the collagen fibres within the lamellae of the AF (Lundon, 2007). Within the elastic region, the change in stress is proportional to the change in strain. In this region, the changes in the length of the tissue are reversible once the applied stress is removed. A common property measured within the elastic region is Young's Modulus. Young's Modulus is defined as the slope of the elastic region and represents the stiffness of the tissue (Lundon, 2007). Finally, the plastic region is characterized by changes in tissue length that are no longer reversible and therefore indicates that micro-damage is occurring within the tissue (Lundon, 2007). An important property within the plastic region is the yield point which is the transition point between the elastic region and the plastic region in which the deformations in the tissue are no longer reversible.



Figure 4. A typical stress-strain curve demonstrating the toe region, linear region, and plastic region.

# **1.2.2 Tensile Properties**

As mentioned, the IVD contains high levels of proteoglycans which attract water into the NP. This hydration allows the NP to generate hydrostatic pressure which is an important characteristic of the IVD that enables it to resist compression. Under compression, this hydrostatic pressure within the NP causes it to bulge onto the AF, resulting in tensile and shear stresses to the AF. Therefore, when studying the mechanical properties of the IVD, specifically of the AF, the type of stress that is often examined is tension. There are regional variations of the tensile properties of the AF with the fibres of the OAF being stiffer than the IAF and the fibres from the anterior region being stiffer than those from the posterior region (Holzapfel et al., 2005; Skaggs, Weidenbaum, Iatridis, Ratclife, & Mow, 1994).

Early research studying tensile properties of the AF concluded that, although the tensile strength was highest when applied in the direction of the collagen fibres, the intralamellar matrix also contributed to the tensile strength of the AF and therefore warranted further research (Adams & Green, 1993; Green, Adams & Dolan, 1993). Research studying single lamellae

subjected to tension has consistently demonstrated that they exhibit a typical non-linear stressstrain response as described above (Ebara et al., 1996; Holzapfel et al., 2005; Skaggs et al., 1994). However, this research focused mainly on the tensile properties of the collagen fibres themselves and not of the intralamellar matrix. Holzapfel and colleagues (2005) stretched single layers of the AF both parallel and perpendicular to the collagen fibre orientation of cadaver lumbar spines in order to determine the tensile strength of both the collagen fibres and the intralamellar matrix. The authors found the Young's modulus to be much lower (0.22 MPa) when pulled perpendicular to the collagen fibres compared to when pulled parallel to the collagen fibres (28-78 MPa). They concluded that the intralamellar matrix had an insignificant load carrying capacity under tension, with the collagen fibres themselves being the main contributor. Similar results were seen by Pezowicz and colleagues (2005) who found an average initial peak stress of 0.15 MPa when they pulled samples of single lamellae from bovine tail IVDs perpendicular to the collagen fibre orientation. Additionally, the authors observed cleft formation within the intralamellar matrix when pulled perpendicularly and therefore concluded that the intralamellar matrix plays a smaller role in resisting tension than the collagen fibres themselves. They also hypothesized that, due to the ease with which they separated adjacent collagen fibres and the observation of clefts, herniation likely progressed through the separation of these fibres (Pezowicz et al., 2005). Similar clefts were observed by Tampier, Drake, Callaghan, & McGill (2007) who initiated herniation in porcine cervical IVDs. They thus concluded that these clefts are an important mechanism of herniation progression and that, despite the low strength of the intralamellar matrix, it is an important contributor to resisting herniation progression.

In addition to the tensile properties of single lamellae and the intralamellar matrix, the tensile properties of multiple lamellae of the AF and the interlamellar matrix have been examined. Similar to studies looking at the tensile properties of the AF in single lamellae, those looking at the tensile properties of multiple layers of the AF have demonstrated a typical stress-strain response (Adams & Green, 1993; Fujita, Duncan, & Lotz, 1997; Iatridis, MaClean, & Ryan, 2005). Fujita and colleagues (1997) demonstrated that during radial stretching of multiple layers of the AF from cadaver lumbar spines, the observed deformation was primarily within the interlamellar matrix and not the actual collagen fibres. They concluded that a gradual disruption of the interlamellar matrix at a localized area resulted in failure of the samples and not deformation of the collagen fibres themselves. A similar delamination response within the interlamellar matrix when subjected to tensile loading has been demonstrated by Gregory, Bae, Sah, and Masuda (2012); Iatridis and colleagues (2005); Iatridis & Gwynn (2004); and Mengoni and colleagues (2015). Furthermore, Iatridis & Gwynn (2004) demonstrated that, in addition to tensile stress, shear stress within the interlamellar matrix ranged from 0.4 to 1.0 MPa during a circumferential tensile test. They hypothesized that this shear stress between adjacent lamellae contributed to delamination.

When looking at the mechanical properties of the IVD during twist, there are several unique characteristics that are important to consider. Strain within the AF has been shown to be quite substantial in twist (Stokes & Greenapple, 1985; Stokes, 1988); up to five times larger than in compression (Stokes & Greenapple, 1985). The high strain in twist is likely contributing to delamination. In addition, Schmidt and colleagues (2007) found that axial rotation resulted in the largest tensile strains on the collagen fibres (11.9%), despite being limited by the facet joints, when compared to lateral bending (8.9%), flexion (7.2%), and extension (5.9%). Finally, static

twist has been shown to decrease the compressive strength of the spine, resulting in increased endplate fractures (Aultman, Drake, Callaghan, & McGill, 2004).

In conclusion, twist results in both shear and tensile stresses on the AF. As mentioned previously, tension has been demonstrated to disrupt both the interlamellar matrix and the intralamellar matrix of the AF. This disruption of the inter- and intralamellar matrices due to the tensile and shear forces the AF is subjected to during twist may result in damage to these structures.

# **1.3 Bovine Model for Human IVD Biomechanics**

A number of studies have used bovine tail IVDs to study the mechanical properties of human IVDs and the development of IVD disorders (Iatridis et al., 2005; Pezowicz et al., 2006; Schechtman, Robertson & Broom, 2006; Simunic, Roberston & Broom, 2004; Stokes & Greenapple, 1985). *In vitro*, the most suitable model to study human IVD biomechanics is a human cadaver IVD. However, they are often more expensive and less readily available than other models, such as bovine tail IVDs. In addition, a bovine model allows for control over certain variables such as physical activity level, age, and diet, making a much more homogeneous sample compared to humans. Bovine tail IVDs have been demonstrated to be a suitable model for human IVDs due to a number of anatomical, biological, and biomechanical similarities described below.

# 1.3.1 Anatomy

The geometry of bovine tail IVDs, specifically IVD height and area, are comparable to human lumbar IVDs (Beckstein et al., 2008; Monaco, DeWitte-Orr, & Gregory, 2016; O'Connell, Vresilovic, & Elliot, 2007). O'Connell and colleagues (2007) determined that the

geometry of bovine tail IVDs deviated from human IVDs by 22% when considering IVD height, width, and NP area. One major difference between bovine tail and human lumbar IVDs is their shape, with bovine IVDs having a more circular shape compared to the limacon-shaped human IVDs (Monaco et al., 2016; O'Connell et al., 2007). It has been hypothesized that the shape of the IVD contributes to the herniation process, with circular IVDs herniating in the posterior direction and in a more diffuse manner and limacon IVDs herniating in the posterolateral direction and in a more concentrated manner (Yates, Giangregorio, & McGill, 2010). Another difference between bovine tail and human lumbar specimens is the absence of facet joints in bovine tail vertebrae (Alini et al., 2008). Therefore, in a bovine tail, twist is not limited by the facet joints as it is in human lumbar spines.

# 1.3.2 Biology

Bovine tails and human IVDs have a similar distribution of extracellular matrix proteins, with a higher water and proteoglycan content in the NP than in the AF and a higher collagen content in the AF than in the NP (Beckstein, Sen, Schaer, Vresilovic, & Elliot, 2008; Demers, Antoniou, & Mwale, 2004). Bovine tail IVDs have also been found to have a similar amount of proteoglycans in the AF and a similar amount of type II collagen in the NP as human lumbar IVDs (Beckstein et al., 2008; Demers et al., 2004). Conversely, Demers and colleagues (2004) found that bovine tail IVDs had less type II collagen in the AF than human lumbar IVDs and therefore concluded that bovine tail IVDs can serve as a good model to study healthy human IVDs but may not be suitable for older, more degenerated IVDs. An important component of both the inter- and intralamellar matrices is elastin. Elastin has been found to have a similar organization in bovine tail IVDs and human IVDs in which it is concentrated between adjacent

lamellae and between adjacent collagen fibres within lamellae (Yu, Fairbank, Roberts, & Urban, 2005; Yu et al., 2007).

# **1.3.3 Biomechanical Properties**

Biomechanically, bovine IVDs have also been shown to be comparable to human lumbar IVDs. Bovine tail IVDs have similar torsional stiffness ranges to human lumbar IVDs (Showalter et al., 2012). Showalter and colleagues (2012) found that bovine tail IVDs had torsional stiffness values within 25% of those values found in human IVDs whereas the values from porcine and ovine IVDs were significantly higher than those from human IVDs. The compressive ROM of bovine tail IVDs (1.24 mm) was also the most similar to humans (1.21mm) compared to porcine, ovine, mice, and rat IVDs (Beckstein et al., 2008). Finally, bovine tail IVDs support similar ranges of compressive forces as humans due to the surrounding musculature (Alini et al., 2008). In conclusion, bovine tail IVDs have been deemed a suitable alternative to healthy young human IVDs when studying their mechanical properties.

#### **1.4 IVD Herniation**

IVD herniation is a common injury to the lower back, with 95% of herniated IVDs occurring in the lumbar spine in those aged 25-55 (Jordon, Konstantinou, & O'Dowd, 2009). It is characterized by the NP migrating radially through the layers of the AF and either completely migrating through all the layers of the AF, entering the spinal canal (prolapse) or partially migrating through the layers, resulting in bulging of the AF onto the spinal canal (protrusion) (Yasuma, Makino, Saito, & Inui, 1986). IVD herniation generally occurs in the posterior direction. This may be due, in part, to a smaller number of lamellae and more incomplete layers of lamellae on the posterior side of the IVD (Cassidy et al., 1989; Tsuji et al., 1993). This may

also be due to repetitive or prolonged flexion, a common cause of IVD herniation in which the anterior AF/NP is under compression while the posterior AF is under tension. This results in the posterior AF supporting most of the tension being applied by the NP, making it more likely to weaken and fail.

The mechanisms of IVD herniation progression are two-fold: through breaching the intralamellar matrix and through delamination of the interlamellar matrix. Tampier and colleagues (2007) initiated herniation in porcine cervical IVDs through repetitive flexion/extension combined with compression and discovered clefts formed by the NP in the intralamellar matrix of each lamella and no rupturing of the actual collagen fibres. Similarly, Gooyers and colleagues (2015) demonstrated clefts within the intralamellar matrix as well as delamination within the interlamellar matrix. They suggested that herniation occurred through migration of the NP between adjacent lamellae until it found the weakest spot of the next lamella and protruded, through clefts, between adjacent collagen fibres (Gooyers et al., 2015). Figure 5 illustrates this migration pattern of herniation through a combination of delamination and cleft formation.



**Figure 5.** Illustration of the migration pattern of the NP through the AF during herniation. Image reproduced from Gregory (2009), with permission.

# 1.4.1 Risk Factors

Several risk factors have been linked to IVD herniation such as repetitive flexion/extension (Callaghan & McGill, 2001; Tampier et al., 2007), vibration (Gregory & Callaghan, 2011), and twisting (Drake et al., 2005; Farfan, 1969; Marshall & McGill, 2010). Contrarily, compression generally results in endplate fractures and is unlikely to damage the IVD on its own (Adams & Hutton, 1981). Several *in vivo* studies have concluded that, when combined with repetitive flexion, twisting is associated with LBP (Kelsey et al., 1984; Shan et al., 2013) and IVD herniation (Greenough & Fraser, 1994). Although twist has been demonstrated to cause LBP and contribute to IVD herniation, the results of several *in vitro* studies looking at the effect of twist on initiating IVD damage have not been as conclusive.

# 1.4.1.1 Twist

Some of the first studies looking at twist and its effect on the IVD were conducted by Farfan and colleagues (1969, 1970). In 1969, Farfan applied an axial twist moment alone and in combination with compression to the FSUs of lumbar cadaver spines with and without facet joints. The results indicated circumferential annular tears, similar to delamination, to the superficial layers of the IVD in the posterior and posterolateral regions, and no damage to any bony structures such as the facet joints. This damage was less severe when combined with compression, likely due to the closer approximation of the facet joints (Farfan, 1969). Therefore, the author concluded that, although the facet joints act as a protective mechanism to the IVD, the IVD can become damaged from twisting alone without any damage to the bony structures. A follow-up study concluded that the facet joints and the IVD contribute equally to resisting applied twist (Farfan et al., 1970). They found that the whole intervertebral joint failed at 22°, the isolated IVD failed at 16°, and the facet joints failed at 12°. These results were supported by

Krismer et al. (1996) who demonstrated, at 8° of twist, weakening of the AF fibres that were oriented in the direction of twist. Additionally, torsional strength decreased more in the FSUs in which the AF fibres were intentionally cut than in the FSUs in which the facet joints were removed, indicating that the AF provided more resistance to twist than the facet joints. They concluded that, although the facet joints contribute to resisting twist, they are a secondary barrier with the IVD being the primary barrier to resisting twist.

However, Adams & Hutton (1981) did a similar study to Farfan (1969) looking at the effect of twist on the IVD and found that it was the facet joints that provided the majority of the resistance to twist and not the IVD. They subjected human cadaver FSUs to compression and axial twist with several conditions: an intact FSU, an FSU without ligaments, an FSU without ligaments or facet joints, and the IVD in isolation. They found that the IVD played an important role in resisting twist within the first 2° of rotation but past that it was the facet joints that resisted twist with the IVD only playing a minor role (Adams & Hutton, 1981). Therefore, they concluded that it is the facet joints that will ultimately become damaged as a result of twist and not the IVD (Adams & Hutton, 1981). These results were supported by Shirazi-Adl and colleagues (1986).

These studies have several important limitations. Other than the study by Shirazi-Adl and colleagues (1986), these studies all used human cadaveric tissue with a large age range (18-86 years). Age can influence the mechanical properties of the IVD and therefore may have influenced the results of these studies as it was not always controlled for. Additionally, Adams & Hutton (1981) were unable to apply a constant level of compression and twist moments across the conditions, making it difficult to compare the results from the different groups. A final

limitation of these studies is that the type and degree of damage done to the AF was assessed qualitatively.

Since these controversial studies, research has primarily focused on twist in combined loading scenarios such as in combination with flexion. This research has concluded that twist does increase the vulnerability of the IVD and accelerates the progression of herniation when combined with flexion (Berger-Roscher, Casaroli, Rasche, Villa, Galbusera, & Wilke, 2016; Drake et al., 2005; Lu, Hutton, & Gharpuray, 1996; Marshall & McGill, 2010; Schmidt et al., 2007; Veres et al., 2010). Berger-Roscher and colleagues (2016) exposed ovine IVDs to 4° of twist combined with flexion and lateral bending and found that twist resulted in increased annular damage and increased endplate joint fractures. Additionally, Drake and colleagues (2005) subjected porcine cervical FSUs to either static compression and static axial torque combined with repetitive flexion, or compression and repetitive flexion alone. They found that IVD herniation occurred quicker in the group exposed to repetitive flexion combined with axial torque than in the group exposed to flexion alone. They also found a higher number of facet fractures in the flexion group exposed to torque and therefore concluded that failure of the IVD and the facets were not independent of one another but rather, damage to one structure accelerated damage to the other. These results were supported by a similar study by Veres and colleagues (2010) who concluded that although repetitive twist did not increase the number of herniated IVDs, it did facilitate herniation progression in those IVDs that were already at risk. Additionally, Marshall & McGill (2010), through X-ray images and computed tomography scans, demonstrated increased delamination in the interlamellar matrix when repetitive twist was combined with flexion/extension, concluding that twist does contribute to IVD herniation.

In summary, recent *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies looking at twist in combined loading scenarios have confirmed that twist does increase the risk of IVD herniation, however the mechanisms behind how twist increases this risk are not as well understood. It is possible that twist causes microscopic damage to the structures of the AF which indirectly predispose the IVD to herniation and further damage when combined with flexion, allowing herniation to progress more easily. In order to determine the mechanisms and isolate the damage twist in combined loading scenarios is causing to the AF, twist should be looked at in isolation. The current study focused on research on the effect of twist on the mechanical properties of the IVD in order to address this gap.

# 2. <u>Purpose & Hypotheses</u>

The research studying twist in combined loading scenarios suggests that an element of LBP and IVD injury is due to twist but there is limited research on the mechanisms behind this relationship. Therefore, the primary purpose of the current study was to determine the effect of twist on the mechanical properties of the AF of the IVD, specifically of the inter- and intralamellar matrices, as these matrices are involved in preventing IVD herniation (Gooyers et al., 2015; Tampier et al., 2007). The secondary purpose was to examine the extent of damage to the IVD caused by twist using histological analyses.

It was hypothesized that twist would decrease the interlamellar matrix strength and intralamellar matrix strength and stiffness as a result of the tensile and shear forces they are subjected to during twist. It was further hypothesized that damage (i.e. delamination and lamellae disruption) to these matrices would be greatest in the IVDs that were exposed to twist compared to non-twisted, non-compressed IVDs.

## 3. <u>Methods</u>

# 3.1 Specimens

Thirty-six bovine tail FSUs were obtained fresh from the tails of 18 skeletally mature animals. This ensured that the IVDs, vertebrae, and vertebral endplates were completely developed. Previous research has demonstrated that bovine tail IVDs are a suitable alternative to human lumbar IVDs due to anatomical (O'Connell et al., 2007), biological (Beckstein et al., 2008) and biomechanical similarities (Showalter et al., 2012). One major difference between bovine and human IVDs is the shape, with bovine IVDs having a more circular shape. However, for the current study this difference was beneficial as it allowed for twist to be more evenly distributed around the IVD. The spines were obtained from a common source in the Kitchener-Waterloo region allowing for control over certain variables such as physical activity levels, diet, and age. Two FSUs were removed from each spine (caudal (Ca) 1/2 and Ca 3/4), dissecting through every other IVD. The FSUs were stored in the freezer at -20°C until testing. Before testing, they were removed from the freezer and thawed at room temperature overnight. Much of the surrounding fat and muscle tissue was removed from the FSU with some muscle tissue being left around the IVD to minimize dehydration.

# **3.2 FSU Loading Protocol**

Each FSU was secured into two custom aluminum cups through a custom twisting jig. The custom twisting jig had six pointed self-tapping screws (three for the superior vertebrae and three for the inferior vertebrae), which were used to secure to the upper and lower vertebrae (Figure 6). The twisting jig functioned to both secure the FSU and allow for the application of

static twist of the superior vertebrae with respect to the inferior vertebrae as the top ring could rotate (Figure 6b). The FSU was then wrapped in gauze soaked with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and plastic wrap to ensure it stayed hydrated during the loading protocol. Finally, the FSU was mounted into a uniaxial electromechanical materials testing system (MTS, Eden Prairie, MN) (Figure 7).

Once mounted, each FSU was preconditioned with 125N of compression and 0° of twist for 15 minutes using the MTS. This reversed any post-mortem swelling that occurred in the specimens (Marshall & McGill, 2010). The FSUs were preconditioned with 125N of compression because previous *in vitro* studies using porcine models preconditioned FSUs with 300N of compression (Drake et al, 2005; Marshall & McGill, 2010), which when normalized to the area of a bovine IVD is approximately 125N. Following preconditioning, each FSU was subjected to one of four loading protocols for two hours: (1) 0° of twist and 0N of compression, these FSUs were considered the control specimens; (2) 0° of twist and 1000N of compression; (3) 12° of twist and 0N of compression; (4) 12° of twist and 1000N of compression.

There were nine FSUs per group for a total of 36 FSUs. The FSUs subjected to twist were removed from the MTS and then manually twisted at a constant rate of 2.7°/sec using a metronome. During pilot testing, several FSUs were twisted to end range in order to determine twist range of motion. The average of these end ranges was determined to be 12° therefore, in the current study, the FSUs in either twist group were twisted 12°.

The applied compression was 1000N because, when normalized to the area of a human IVD (~4000N), it is considered a moderate level of compression, falling between NIOSH's lifting guidelines action limit and maximum permissible limit (NIOSH, 1981). Following the

loading protocol, each FSU was removed from the custom twisting jig and the muscles and ligaments surrounding the IVD were removed in order to access the IVD.



**Figure 6.** A) Sagittal view of an FSU in twist using the custom twisting jig. Arrow indicates direction of twist. B) Transverse view of an FSU in twist using the custom twisting jig. C) Custom twisting jig indicating the pin (circled in black) used to indicate degrees.



Figure 7. An FSU in twist using the custom twisting jig and mounted in the MTS. Arrow indicates direction of twist.

# **3.3 Annulus Fibrosus Mechanical Testing Protocol**

# 3.3.1 Tensile Testing of the Intralamellar Matrix

Thirty-two of the 36 mechanically loaded IVDs were used for further mechanical testing (8 IVDs per condition), while the remaining four IVDs were reserved for histological testing. Two single layer samples were dissected from the anterior OAF of each of the 32 IVDs for a total of 60 viable samples (four samples were not large enough for mechanical testing). The collagen fibres within each dissected sample from the IVDs subjected to twist were oriented in the direction of twist (Figure 8). This was because there was likely more tensile and shear forces within the intralamellar matrix in layers in which the collagen fibres were being stretched due to twist. A dissection microscope was used to dissect the samples to ensure dissection of only one layer and to minimize damage to the sample during dissection (SD-SCD Trinocular Stereoscope, Leica, Wetzlar, Germany).



**Figure 8.** The orientation of the collagen fibres of the AF during twist where the red rectangle represents a dissected single layer oriented in the direction of twist. Image adapted from Adams et al. (2013), reproduced with permission.

Following dissection, the tissue thickness was measured using a laser displacement sensor (Keyence, Mississauga, ON). The sensor calculated the difference between the distance between the laser and the base of the plate used to hold the tissue and the distance between the laser and the tissue sample. The obtained tissue thickness was then multiplied by the width of the tissue to calculate the cross-sectional area of the sample which was used to normalize force (Figure 9). The average tissue thickness and cross-sectional area for each condition is summarized in table 1. No significant differences in tissue thickness or cross-sectional area were observed between any of the exposure conditions. Additionally, the average thickness of the untwisted samples was 0.30mm ( $\pm$ 0.08) compared to 0.31mm ( $\pm$ 0.11) for the twisted samples (p=0.79) and the average cross sectional area of the untwisted samples was 0.84mm<sup>2</sup> ( $\pm$ 0.30) compared to 0.81mm<sup>2</sup> ( $\pm$ 0.33) for the twisted samples (p=0.65).



Figure 9. Measurement of the cross-sectional area of a sample (green circle) using tissue thickness and tissue width.

**Table 1.** Average single layer sample thickness and cross-sectional area for each exposure condition. No significant differences were observed between the conditions (p>0.05).

	Tissue Thickness (mm)	Cross-sectional Area (mm <sup>2</sup> )
<b>Control Samples</b>	0.33 (±0.07)	0.91 (±0.27)
<b>Compression-only Samples</b>	0.27 (±0.09)	0.75 (±0.32)
Twist-only Samples	0.33 (±0.11)	0.82 (±0.31)
<b>Combination Samples</b>	0.29 (±0.11)	0.79 (±0.36)

The samples were then mounted into the BioTester 5000 (CellScale, Waterloo, ON) via tungsten rakes. The rakes used small hooks to puncture the tissue to allow a strong grip while stretching it. The samples were mounted such that tension was applied perpendicular to the orientation of the collagen fibres in order to isolate the intralamellar matrix (Figure 10). Prior to tensile testing, the samples were soaked with PBS to ensure they stayed hydrated during testing. The mounted tissues were then stretched to approximately 5mN to pull them taut. Each tissue was preconditioned with 3 repeats of 10% strain at a rate of 1% strain/sec. Following preconditioning, the tensile test began with the samples being pulled at a rate of 2% strain/sec until failure.



**Figure 10.** Single layer sample mounted via rakes with tension being applied perpendicular to the collagen fibres. Note the orientation of collagen fibres represented by the orange arrow.

# 3.3.2 Tensile Testing of the Interlamellar Matrix

From the 32 IVDs dissected for the single layer tensile test, a sample of the AF was dissected from the posterior OAF of each of the IVDs for a total of 32 samples. Each sample contained approximately 6 adjacent layers of the AF. Delamination between the two most centroid adjacent layers of a sample was initiated manually by cutting between these central layers, isolating the interlamellar matrix. This created a T shaped tissue that was suitable for the T-peel test. The T-peel test was the most appropriate test for examining the tensile properties of the interlamellar matrix because it is best when the two materials adhered to one another are both flexible, such as two adjacent AF layers (ASTM Standard D1876-01, 2001). Additionally, the T-peel test mimicked how the interlamellar matrix is loaded *in vivo*.

Prior to mechanical testing, the T shaped samples were soaked with PBS to ensure the samples remained hydrated during testing. The bond width of each sample was also measured using digital callipers (Figure 11). The tissue samples were then clamped in the Ustretch (Cellscale, Waterloo, ON) at the manually created tabs (Figure 12). Once secured, the tissue samples were stretched until the applied tension was approximately 10mN without creating

delamination. At this point, the peel test began with the tissue being peeled at a rate of 0.5

mm/second until failure.



Figure 11. Tissue width was measured for each sample. Note the black arrow indicating the tissue bond width.



Figure 12. AF sample clamped at the manually created tabs during the T-peel test.

# **3.4 Endplate Geometry Measurements**

IVD endplate measurements, including AP and lateral widths, were taken using digital callipers in order to calculate IVD area. The mean area was 539.15mm<sup>2</sup> (±28.70) for the control IVDs, 517.23mm<sup>2</sup> (±16.74) for the compressed-only IVDs, 575.19mm<sup>2</sup> (±66.70) for the twist-only IVDs and 528.33mm<sup>2</sup> (±70.99) for the combination IVDs. No significant differences in

endplate area were observed between conditions. Additionally, the mean area of the untwisted IVDs was 529.41mm<sup>2</sup> (±25.50) compared to 548.30mm<sup>2</sup> (±69.47) for the twisted IVDs (p=0.38).

# **3.5 Histological Analysis**

Following the two-hour loading protocol, one IVD per group (4 IVDs total) was carefully dissected from each FSU. Each IVD was cut in half and placed in 10% formalin (Fisher Scientific) for 48 hours until histological testing. Tissue embedding and Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining was done at the Ontario Veterinary College (Guelph, Ontario) in order to visualize type I and type II collagen and any damage that may have occurred as a result of the loading protocol. An Axiolab microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany) was then used to view the stained slides in order to assess any visible damage to the AF.

#### 3.6 Data Analysis

# 3.6.1 Single Layer (intralamellar matrix) Tensile Test

Each tensile test recorded force and displacement data, obtained using the LabJoy software (Cellscale, Waterloo, ON), and was sampled at 10Hz. Force and displacement data were then normalized to obtain stress and strain. Force was normalized by dividing the recorded force by the calculated cross-sectional area. Displacement was normalized by dividing the recorded displacement of the tissue by the original length of the tissue. From the calculated stress-strain curves, the variables of interest were the stress and strain at the end of the toe region, Young's modulus, and yield point (Figure 13). The toe region was defined as the non-linear region preceding the linear elastic region. Young's modulus was determined by calculating the slope of the linear region, determined by fitting the data in this region with a linear line. The

trendline was first applied to the linear region, including a small portion of the non-linear toe region, and then was gradually brought in towards the linear region until the  $R^2$  value of the trendline was at least 0.98. The point where this established linear region began was also considered the stress and strain at the end of the toe region. Finally, the yield point, located at the end of the linear region, was considered the point at which stress either suddenly dropped or if the slope of the linear region decreased.



**Figure 13.** Stress-strain curve of a single layer tensile test indicating variables of interest: A) stress at the end of the toe region, B) strain at the end of the toe region, C) Young's modulus (slope of linear region), and D) yield point.

#### 3.6.2 Peel test

Force and displacement data were recorded using the LabJoy software (Cellscale,

Waterloo, Ontario) and sampled at 10Hz during each peel test. Force was normalized to the tissue bond width to obtain peel strength; displacement was not normalized to original length, as the original length is irrelevant in a mechanical peel test. From the peel strength-displacement curve, peel strength and peel strength variability were calculated. Peel strength was the average

stress of the plateau region (N/mm) and peel strength variability was the standard deviation of the plateau region (N/mm) (Figure 14).



Figure 14. A typical peel stress-displacement curve obtained from a T-peel test.

# **3.7 Statistical Analysis**

Two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were conducted to determine the effect of 1) twist and 2) compression on the variables of interest from the peel test and the single layer tensile test. The first factor (twist) had two levels: 0° and 12° and the second factor (compression) had two levels: 0N and 1000N. An alpha level of 0.05 was used.

## 4. <u>Results</u>

## 4.1 Single Layer (intralamellar matrix) Tensile Properties

# 4.1.1 Effect of Twist

Thirty-two single layer samples were obtained from twisted FSUs and 28 samples from untwisted FSUs. Overall, twist, regardless of compression exposure, had a significant effect on a number of the variables of interest from the single layer tensile test. There was a significant main effect of twist observed for all of the variables of interest with the exception of strain at the end of the toe region, which demonstrated a significant interaction between twist and compression. First, stress at the end of the toe region was lower in twisted samples compared to untwisted samples (p=0.006) (Figure 15). Twisted samples had a mean stress of 0.10 MPa ( $\pm 0.06$ ) while untwisted samples had a mean stress of 0.18 MPa ( $\pm 0.14$ ) at the end of the toe region. Second, twisted samples also had lower Young's moduli, indicating decreased stiffness, than untwisted single layer samples (p=0.010) (Figure 16). Specifically, twisted samples had a mean Young's modulus of 0.011 MPa (±0.008) while untwisted samples had a mean Young's modulus of 0.019 MPa ( $\pm 0.015$ ). Finally, twisted samples had lower yield points compared to untwisted samples (p<0.001) (Figure 17). Twisted samples had a mean yield point of 0.42 MPa (±0.23) while untwisted samples had a mean yield point of 0.81 MPa ( $\pm 0.46$ ). These findings are summarized in Table 2.



**Figure 15**. Average stress at the end of the toe region for each condition. Blue represents untwisted samples and red represents twisted samples. Significant differences identified by an asterisks. No significant interaction between compression and twist was observed. Standard error bars shown. Note the stress-strain curve indicating the variable of interest with a red asterisk (stress at the end of the toe region).



**Figure 16**. Average Young's modulus for each condition. Blue represents untwisted samples and red represents twisted samples. Significant differences identified by an asterisk. No significant interaction between compression and twist was observed. Standard error bars shown. Note the stress-strain curve indicating the variable of interest with a red circle (Young's modulus).



**Figure 17**. Average yield point for each condition. Blue represents untwisted samples and red represents twisted samples. Significant differences identified by an asterisk. No significant interaction between compression and twist was observed. Standard error bar shown. Note the stress-strain curve indicating the variable of interest with a red asterisk.

**Table 2.** Average values for the variables of interest from the single layer tensile tests collapsed across compression exposure for untwisted and twisted samples. Significant differences identified with an asterisk (p < 0.05).

	End of Toe Region Strain (%)	End of Toe Region Stress (MPa)	Elastic Modulus (MPa)	Yield Point (MPa)
Untwisted	38.17 (±25.29)	0.18 (±0.14)	0.02 (±0.01)	0.81 (±0.46)
(n=28)		*	*	*
Twisted (n=32)	36.09 (±32.35)	0.10 (±0.06)	0.01 (±0.01)	0.42 (±0.23)

# 4.1.2 Effect of Compression

There was no significant main effect of compression observed for any of the variables of interest from the single layer tensile test. These findings are summarized in Table 3.

compression was observed (p>0.05).				
	End of Toe Region Strain (%)	End of Toe Region Stress (MPa)	Elastic Modulus (MPa)	Yield Point (MPa)
Uncompressed (n=32)	40.92 (±32.28)	0.15 (±0.13)	0.01 (±0.01)	0.58 (±0.41)
Compressed (n=28)	32.65 (±24.68)	0.13 (±0.10)	0.02 (±0.01)	0.63 (±0.41)

**Table 3.** Average values for the variables of interest from the single layer tensile tests collapsed across twist exposure for uncompressed and compressed samples. No significant main effect of compression was observed (p>0.05).

# 4.1.3 Effect of Twist Combined with Compression

The single layer tensile test yielded a significant interaction between twist and compression for the strain at the end of the toe region (p=0.022). Specifically, in specimens that were not exposed to twist, the magnitude of compression (either 0N or 1000N) did not alter the strain at the end of the toe region. However, for samples that were twisted, if they were also compressed with 1000N, the strain at the end of the toe region was significantly lower than specimens that were twisted but not compressed. (Figure 18).



**Figure 18.** Interaction between twist exposure and compression exposure for strain at the end of the toe region (p=0.022). Significant differences between conditions identified with an asterisk (p<0.05). Standard error bars shown.

# 4.2 Peel Test (interlamellar matrix) Properties

Sixteen multi-layered annular samples were obtained from twisted FSUs and 16 samples were obtained from untwisted FSUs. There was no significant main effect of twist or compression for any of the variables of interest from the peel test. There were also no significant interactions observed for any of the variables. These findings are summarized in Tables 4 and 5.

**Table 4.** Average values for the variables of interest of the peel test collapsed across compression exposure (control vs compressed) for untwisted and twisted samples. No significant main effect of twist was observed for either variable (p>0.05).

	Peel Strength (N/mm)	Peel Strength Variability (N/mm)
Untwisted (n=16)	3.47 (±1.67)	0.74 (±0.58)
Twisted (n=16)	2.86 (±0.90)	0.58 (±0.29)
p value	0.223	0.352

**Table 5.** Average values for the variables of interest of the peel test collapsed across twist exposure for uncompressed and compressed samples. No significant main effect of compression was observed for either variable (p>0.05).

	Peel Strength (N/mm) Peel Strength Variabili	
		(N/mm)
Uncompressed (n=16)	3.15 (±1.43)	0.60 (±0.31)
Compressed (n=16)	3.17 (±1.33)	0.72 (±0.56)
p value	0.954	0.482

# 4.3 Histological Analysis

Two samples per condition were obtained for histological analysis for a total of eight samples. There were several differences observed between the four conditions in terms of level of damage to the AF. In general, there appeared to be a loss of integrity of the AF in the twisted samples, as seen primarily by increased disruption of individual lamellae (Figure 19, 20). There also appeared to be an increased prevalence of delamination between lamellae of twisted samples

compared to untwisted samples. The control samples were largely intact with some disruption of individual lamellae (20a) and minimal delamination between lamellae observed. Similarly, the compression-only samples were largely intact with minimal delamination between lamellae and negligible disruption of individual lamellae (20b). The twist-only samples displayed more severe disruption of individual lamellae compared to the control samples (20c). Interestingly, the disruption of individual lamellae is visible approximately every other layer; presumably in the layers in the direction of twist, and therefore under strain. Additionally, there was some delamination occurring between lamellae within the AF. Finally, the combination samples, exposed to compression and twist, displayed the most severe disruption of individual lamellae yet minimal delamination between lamellae (20d). Similar to the twist-only sample, this disruption was evident in approximately every other single layer. The delamination observed in the twisted samples (both twist-only and combination samples), although minimal, was more prevalent than the observed delamination in the compression-only samples. The severity of the observed disruption of individual lamellae was similar in the combination sample to that observed in the twist-only sample (Figure 19).



**Figure 19.** IVDs exposed to (A) control, (B) compression-only, (C) twist-only, and (D) combination loading stained with H&E to show type I (pink) and type II (purple) collagen fibres and damage to the AF. Scale bar: 10mm.



**Figure 20.** A section of IVDs exposed to (A) control, (B) compression-only, (C) twist-only, and (D) combination loading stained with H&E showing delamination between layers and disruption within a single layer. Scale bar: 2mm.

#### 5. Discussion

# 5.1 Revisiting the Purpose and Hypotheses

Twist has been shown to increase the risk of IVD herniation in combination with repetitive flexion (Drake et al., 2005; Veres et al., 2010) however, the mechanisms behind this are not well understood given that IVD herniation progresses through both inter- and intralamellar matrices (Tampier et al., 2007; Gregory & Callaghan, 2011; Gooyers et al., 2015). Therefore, the primary purpose of the current study was to determine the effects of static, prolonged twist on the mechanical properties of both aforementioned matrices. It was hypothesized that twist would decrease the interlamellar matrix strength and the intralamellar matrix strength and stiffness due to the tensile and shear forces they are subjected to during twist. Twist did result in decreased intralamellar matrix strength and stiffness, as seen by significantly lower yield points, Young's moduli, and stress at the end of the toe region in the twisted single layer samples compared to the untwisted samples. However, twist did not result in reduced interlamellar matrix strength, as seen by no significant difference in peel strength or peel strength variability between the twisted and untwisted samples.

The secondary purpose of the current study was to examine the extent of damage to the IVD as a result of twist using histological analyses. It was hypothesized that damage (i.e. delamination and lamellae disruption) would be more severe in the IVDs exposed to twist compared to the IVDs that were not exposed to twist. Twist resulted in increased disruption within individual lamellae, indicating that twist damaged the intralamellar matrix. Twist also appeared to result in minimal delamination within the interlamellar matrix, suggesting that twist may have caused a small degree of damage to the interlamellar matrix.

#### 5.2 Effect of Twist on the Interlamellar Matrix

Contrary to the proposed hypothesis, the interlamellar matrix appeared to be unaffected by twist as there were no significant differences in the peel test results between the twisted and untwisted samples. This finding suggests that static isolated twist, even to end range, does not affect the mechanical properties of the interlamellar matrix over a two-hour period. It is likely that, although twist applies tensile and shear forces to the interlamellar matrix (Schmidt et al., 2007; Stokes, 1988), these forces are not sufficient to disrupt the interlamellar matrix. Michalek, Buckley, Bonassar, Cohen, & Iatridis (2009) subjected AF samples from bovine IVDs to shear loading and determined, using confocal microscopy, that under shear there is minimal sliding between AF layers. This suggests that, in a bovine model, although twist subjects the entire AF to shear, the amount of sliding may be minimal within the interlamellar matrix, minimizing the risk of delamination. This was further corroborated by the minimal visible disruption within the interlamellar matrix histologically. Additionally, Adam, Rouch, & Scalli (2015) used a finite element model to analyze the interlamellar matrix of bovine tail IVDs and concluded that bovine IVDs had a high degree of interlamellar shear resistance. This ability to resist shear may have minimized damage to the interlamellar matrix in the current study; however, it is unknown if this same resistance to shear exists in the human IVD.

Despite the results from the peel test, the histological analysis demonstrated a small degree of delamination in the samples exposed to twist. It is possible that, because the delamination was mostly isolated to small regions and was not present across the entire IVD, the samples used for the peel test were not from a region in which delamination was present. It is also possible that the observed delamination was minimal enough that, if it was present within

the sample used for the peel test, it did not disrupt the mechanical properties of the interlamellar matrix and therefore is not a major cause for concern.

# 5.3 Effect of Twist on the Intralamellar Matrix

Although twist did not have an effect on the mechanical properties of the interlamellar matrix, it did have a substantial effect on the mechanical properties of the intralamellar matrix. In particular, twist, regardless of the magnitude of compression, resulted in a significant decrease in the intralamellar matrix stiffness (Young's modulus), strength (yield point), and the stress at the transmission between the toe region and elastic region (Figure 21). In each case, the findings suggest a weakening effect of twist on the intralamellar matrix.

One key component of the intralamellar matrix that may have been affected by twist is elastin. Elastin is an important component within the intralamellar matrix because it keeps the parallel aligned type I collagen fibres within a single layer strongly bound together and assists in AF recovery following tensile loading (Smith & Fazzalari, 2009). Smith, Byers, Costi, & Fazzalari (2008) demonstrated that, when tension was applied perpendicular to the orientation of the collagen fibres, AF stiffness decreased following elastin degradation. Likewise, the current study found the samples exposed to twist were also significantly less stiff indicating that elastin may have been affected by twist. Additionally, Michalek and colleagues (2009) found that elastin was responsible for stiffening AF fibre bundles when exposed to shear. They hypothesized that damage to elastin, such as in IVD injury, can change the AF's ability to resist shear thus making it more susceptible to microfailures when exposed to motions that cause high shear stresses such as bending and twisting. Similar results were seen in the current study in

which twist resulted in microfailures to the AF, seen within the intralamellar matrix, possibly as a result of damage to elastin.

Samples exposed to twist also demonstrated significantly lower stress values at the end of the toe region as well as at failure (yield point) than untwisted samples (Figure 21). Similar to the effect on stiffness, this is likely attributable to damage to elastin as well as other components of the intralamellar matrix, namely type VI collagen and proteoglycans (Melrose et al., 2008), making the twisted samples less resistant to loading. In the case of the toe region stress, twist likely affected the type VI collagen fibres such that they required less stress to reach an uncrimped state prior to deformation in the elastic region. This may be due to damage or may be a result of a residual load, possibly due to fibre reorientation as a result of the twist exposure, on the collagen fibres even after the two-hour loading protocol. However, further research using high-resolution imaging of the fibres is needed to confirm this hypothesis. This information would be of particular importance, as it is often within the toe region that single layers of the AF and the intralamellar matrix are strained *in vivo* (Skaggs et al., 1994).



**Figure 21.** Representative stress-strain curves of a single layer tensile test from a twisted and an untwisted IVD. Note the lower toe region stress, Young's modulus, and yield point in the twisted sample.

In the case of reduced failure strength, it is more likely a result of damage to the intralamellar matrix components, rather than residual loading due to fibre orientation. This is because type VI collagen fibres within the intralamellar matrix are involved in bearing the majority of the tensile load applied to the matrix (Adams & Green, 1993) and therefore would provide the matrix with its tensile strength.

The last variable affect by twist was the strain at the end of the toe region. However, in this case, a significant interaction between magnitude of twist and magnitude of compression was observed such that samples exposed to both twist and compression had significantly lower strain values at the end of the toe region than those exposed to compression-only and twist-only. Similar to toe region stress, this may be due to some sort of load on the intralamellar matrix resulting in decreased required strain before entering into the elastic region of the stress-strain profile. Interestingly, unlike toe region stress, this was further affected by prolonged compression, indicating a cumulative effect of twist and compression on the uncrimping of the type VI collagen fibres.

Twist had a significant effect on all of the variables of interest from the single layer tensile test. Additionally, the histological analysis indicated that twist appeared to disrupt the intralamellar matrix, supporting the results from the single layer tensile test. The intralamellar matrix bears applied tensile loads and assists in recovery following tensile strain in order to provide structural support to the AF (Adams & Green, 1993; Smith & Fazzalari, 2009). Therefore, when the components of the intralamellar matrix became damaged due to the twist, the matrix lost its ability to provide structural support to the collagen fibres within each lamella and keep them tightly bound together. As a result, the collagen fibres likely became disrupted and disorganized, as seen in the histological analysis. Gunzburg and colleagues (1992), using histology, discovered annular lesions in the AF that were exposed to axial torsion, supporting the results of the current study.

# 5.4 Effect of Compression on the Inter- and Intralamellar Matrices

Overall, compression did not have an effect on the mechanical properties of the inter- or intralamellar matrices. This was demonstrated by no differences in the variables of interest from the peel test or the single layer tensile test between compressed and uncompressed samples. The only variable affected by compression was the strain at the end of the toe region, in which there was an interaction between twist and compression described above. The histological analysis also demonstrated no effect of compression on the matrices, as seen by no major disruptions of individual lamellae or delamination between lamellae in samples exposed to compression-only loading. These results support previous research examining the effect of compression on the interlamellar matrix of bovine IVDs in which there was no difference in peel strength between compressed and uncompressed samples (Clayton & Gregory, 2017). Similarly, Korecki,

MacLean, & Iatridis (2008) used bovine IVDs to determine the effect of compression on IVD mechanics. They found that the observed changes in stiffness and IVD height loss recovered after each exposure to compression, proposing that compression is a healthy loading condition for bovine IVDs. Additionally, Stokes & Greenapple (1985) found that compression resulted in less strain to the AF fibres of human IVDs than twist did, providing additional support to the current study. The results of these studies are encouraging because, *in vivo*, human IVDs are subjected to compression for a large part of the day due to the force of gravity and the surrounding musculature. Therefore, if compression was a significant risk factor for AF damage, the prevalence of IVD injury would likely be much higher.

In summary, the results of the current study suggest that static isolated twist damages the intralamellar matrix. Given that part of herniation progression is migration through the layers of the AF through clefts in the intralamellar matrix (Tampier et al., 2007), these results help explain why the risk of herniation is higher when the IVD is twisted. With weakening of the intralamellar matrix as a result of twist, it is likely easier for the NP to migrate through clefts between the intralamellar matrix. Additionally, these findings help explain results found in previous research looking at twist in combined loading scenarios (Drake et al., 2007; Marshall & McGill, 2010; Veres et al., 2010). Veres and colleagues (2010) subjected ovine lumbar IVDs to 7° of flexion and 2° of axial rotation and determined that, when flexion was combined with twist, the number of herniations did not increase compared to flexion alone, however herniation occurred more easily in the IVDs exposed to twist and flexion. Similarly, Drake and colleagues (2007) subjected porcine cervical IVDs to repetitive flexion and static compression combined with axial torque. They concluded that when repetitive flexion was combined with axial torque, the occurrence of IVD herniation was accelerated compared to repetitive flexion alone. These

studies suggest that twist, when combined with repetitive flexion, facilitates herniation progression within the IVD. This inspired the current study, focusing on potential mechanisms to explain what was occurring in the groups exposed to both flexion and axial twist/torque to cause an increased risk of IVD herniation. The current study provides a proposed mechanism behind this accelerated herniation progression which is that twist weakens the intralamellar matrix. With a weaker intralamellar matrix, clefts will form more easily, allowing IVD herniation to progress more easily, and subsequently more quickly, when twist is combined with repetitive flexion.

# **5.5 Limitations**

The main limitation in the current study was the use of bovine IVDs as a representative of human IVDs. As a result, it is unknown if the findings of the current study are comparable to human IVDs. However, bovine IVDs have been shown to be a suitable model to study human IVDs (Beckstein et al., 2008; O'Connell et al., 2007; Showalter et al., 2012) therefore they are a good first step in order to determine the effect of twist on the IVD. Another limitation was that samples for the peel test and the single layer tensile test were only taken from the OAF because of the difficulty of dissecting from the IAF. It is unknown whether the IAF, which is where herniation progression would start, responds in the same way to twist as the OAF. However, the OAF should have been more severely damaged as a result of twist because it is further away from the point of rotation (the centre of the IVD in the case of the circular bovine IVD) and likely experienced more tensile and shear forces compared to the IAF. When considering the histological analysis, a limitation of the current study was that it was difficult to determine whether changes to the AF were a result of twist exposure or were due to processing (cutting and/or staining of the samples). Another limitation of the histological analysis was the use of

only one IVD per condition. This made it difficult to compare the degree of damage between the four conditions. A final limitation was that twisting torque was not measured in the current study. This may have confirmed that 12° of twist in the bovine IVD is comparable to end range twist in humans in terms of torque magnitude.

# **5.6 Future Directions**

The current study provided important information regarding the mechanisms of injury of twist on bovine IVDs and demonstrated that twist can induce damage to the microstructures of the AF, supporting the need for further research into twist. Future research should look at twisting within physiological ranges and not just end range in order to determine if damage is possible within ranges experienced in vivo. Additionally, research should examine dynamic twist and its effect on the mechanical properties of the microstructures of the AF because dynamic twist is more commonly experienced *in vivo* compared to static twist. Future research should also look at the effects of twist on the AF using high-resolution imaging in order to test the proposed hypothesis that damage to the intralamellar matrix results in reorientation and disorganization of the fibres within the intralamellar matrix and individual lamellae of the AF. Finally, future research should look at twist combined with flexion, similar to previous studies (Drake et al., 2007; Marshall & McGill, 2010; Veres et al., 2010) but with a focus on the microstructures of the IVD and the mechanisms of injury. That is, examining the mechanical properties of the interand intralamellar matrix, as in the current study, but in combination with flexion in order to further understand what is occurring within these matrices when combined with twist to increase the risk of IVD herniation. Together, this research will allow for a better understanding of the

effects of twist on the IVD and may point towards a need to minimize individuals' exposure to

twist in order to minimize the risk of IVD injury.

#### 6. <u>Conclusion</u>

The current study examined the effect of twist on the mechanical properties of the interand intralamellar matrices. The interlamellar matrix was not affected, however twist did appear to damage the intralamellar matrix, which is responsible for adhering adjacent collagen fibres within a single layer. Elastin and type VI collagen fibres were likely the components of the intralamellar matrix affected by twist resulting in an overall weakening of the matrix. The intralamellar matrix has been studied previously with respect to IVD herniation and appears to play an important role in herniation through cleft formation (Tampier et al., 2007). The current study suggests that the tensile and shear forces twist applies to the AF result in damage to the intralamellar matrix and consequently, increase the risk of cleft formation, which would subsequently accelerate the occurrence of IVD herniation when exposed to additional loading. This suggests that axial twist may need to be minimized when treating IVD herniations in order to prevent further injury. The results of the current study shed light on the involvement of the microstructures of the AF when the IVD is exposed to twist, suggesting that damage to the intralamellar matrix is likely the source of the increased risk of IVD herniation seen in previous research when combined with repetitive flexion. Therefore, the current study improves our understanding of the involvement of the microstructures of the AF in herniation development when twist is combined with additional loading.

- Adam, C., Rouch, P., & Skalli, W. (2015). Inter-lamellar shear resistance confers compressive stiffness in the intervertebral disc: An image-based modelling study on the bovine caudal disc. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 48(16), 4303–4308.
- Adams, M. A., Bogduk, N., Burton, K., & Dolan, P. (2013). *The biomechanics of back pain* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed). Toronto, ON: Elsevier Ltd.
- Adams, M. A., & Green, T. P. (1993). Tensile properties of the annulus fibrosus I. The contribution of the fibre-matrix interactions to tensile stiffness and strength. *European Spine Journal*, 2(4), 203-208.
- Adams, M. A., & Hutton, W. C. (1981). The relevance of torsion to the mechanical derangement of the lumbar spine. *Spine*, *6*(3), 241-248.
- Adams, M. A., & Hutton, W. C. (1983). The mechanical function of the lumbar apophyseal joints. *Spine*, *8*(3), 327-330.
- Alini, M., Eisenstein, S. M., Ito, K., Little, C., Kettler, A. A., Masuda, K., et al. (2007). Are animal models useful for studying human disc disorders/degeneration? *European Spine Journal*, 17(1), 2-19.
- ASTM Standard D1876-01 (2001). Standard test method for peel resistance of adhesives (T-Peel Test). ASTM International, West Conshochken.
- Aultman, C. D., Drake, J. D. M., Callaghan, J. P., & McGill, S. M. (2004). The effect of static torsion on the compressive strength of the spine. An in vitro analysis using a porcine spine model. *Spine*, 29(15), E304-E309.

- Beckstein, J. C., Sen, S., Schaer, T. P., Vresilovic, E. J., Elliot, D. M. (2008). Comparison of animal discs used in disc research to human lumbar disc. *Spine*, *33*(6), E166-E173.
- Berger-Roscher, N., Casaroli, G., Rasche, V., Villa, T., Galbusera, F., & Wilke, H-J. (2016).
  Influence of complex loading conditions on intervertebral disc failure. *Spine*, 42(2), E78-E85.
- Bogduk, N. (2005). *Clinical anatomy of the lumbar spine and sacrum* (4<sup>th</sup> ed). Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Ltd.
- Callaghan, J. P., & McGill, S. M. (2001). Intervertebral disc herniation: Studies on a porcine model exposed to highly repetitive flexion/extension motion with compressive force. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 16(1), 28-37.
- Cassidy, J. J., Hiltner, A., & Baer, E. (1989). Hierarchical structure of the intervertebral disc. *Connective Tissue Research*, 23(1), 75-88.
- Cholewicki, J., & McGill, S. M. (1996). Mechanical stability of the in vivo lumbar spine: Implications for injury and chronic low back pain. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 11(1), 1-15.
- Clayton, J.D., & Gregory, D.E. The effect of compressive loading on the delamination strength of the annulus fibrosus. *International Society for the Study of the Lumbar Spine*. June 2017. Athens, Greece.
- Demers, C. N., Antoniou, J., & Mwale, F. (2004). Value and limitation of using the bovine tail as a model for the human lumbar spine. *Spine, 29*(24), 2793-2799.
- Drake, J. D. M., Aultman, C. D., McGill, S. M., & Callaghan, J. P. (2005). The influence of static axial torque in combined loading on intervertebral joint failure mechanics using a porcine model. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 20(10), 1038-1045.

- Drake, J. D. M., Dobson, H., & Callaghan, J. P. (2008). The influence of posture and loading on interfacet spacing: An investigation using Magnetic Resonance Imaging on porcine spinal units. *Spine*, 33(20), E728-E734.
- Ebara, S., Iatridis, J. C., Setton, L. A., Foster, R. J., Mow, V. C., & Weidenbaum, M. (1996).
  Tensile properties of nondegenerate human lumbar anulus fibrosus. *Spine*, *21*(4), 452-461.
- Eyre, D. R. & Muir, H. (1976). Type I and II collagens in intervertebral disc. Interchanging radial distributions in annulus fibrosus. *Biochemical Journal*, *157*(1), 267-270.
- Farfan, H. F. (1969). Effects of torsion on the intervertebral joints. *The Canadian Journal of Surgery*, 12(3), 336-341.
- Farfan, H. F., Cossette, J. W., Robertson, G. H., Wells, R. V., & Kraus, H. (1970). The effects of torsion on the lumbar intervertebral joints: The role of torsion in the production of disc degeneration. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 52(3), 468-497.
- Fujita, Y., Duncan, N. A., & Lotz, J. C. (1997). Radial tensile properties of the lumbar annulus fibrosus are site and degeneration dependent. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 15(6), 814-819.
- Gooyers, C. E., McMillan, E. M., Noguchi, M., Quadrilatero, J., & Callaghan, J. P. (2015).
  Characterizing the combined effects of force, repetition and posture on injury pathways and micro-structural damage in isolated functional spinal units from sub-acute-failure magnitudes of cyclic compressive loading. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *30*(9), 953-959.
- Green, T. P., Adams, M. A., & Dolan, P. (1993). Tensile properties of the annulus fibrosus II. Ultimate tensile strength and fatigue life. *European Spine Journal*, *2*(4), 209-214.

- Greenough, C. E., & Fraser, R. D. (1994). Aetiology, diagnosis and treatment of low back pain. *European Spine Journal*, *3*(1), 22-27.
- Gregory, D. E. (2009). The influence of the tensile material properties of single annulus fibrosus lamellae and the interlamellar matrix strength on disc herniation and progression. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Waterloo.
- Gregory, D. E., Bae, W. C., Sah, R. L., & Masuda, K. (2012). Anular delamination strength of human lumbar intervertebral disc. *European Spine Journal*, 21(9), 1716-123.
- Gregory, D. E., & Callaghan, J. P. (2011). Does vibration influence the initiation of intervertebral disc herniation? An examination of herniation occurrence using a porcine cervical disc model. *Spine*, 36(4), E225-E231.
- Guerin, H. A., & Elliot, D. M. (2006). Degeneration affects the fiber reorientation of human annulus fibrosus under tensile load. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *39*(8), 1410-1418.
- Gunzburg, R., Hutton, W., & Fraser, R. (1991). Axial rotation of the lumbar spine and the effect of flexion: An in vitro and in vivo biomechanical study. *Spine*, *16*(1), 22-28.
- Gunzburg, R., Parkinson, R., Moore R., Cantraine, F., Hutton, W., Vernon-Roberts, B., &
  Fraster, R. (1992). A cadaveric study comparing discography, magnetic resonance
  imaging, histology mechanical behavior of the human lumbar disc. *Spine*, *17*(4), 417-426.
- Hayes, A. J., Benjamin, M., & Ralphs, J. R. (2001). Extracellular matrix in development of the intervertebral disc. *Matrix Biology*, 20(2), 107-121.
- Hindle, R. J., & Pearcy, M. J. (1989). Rotational mobility of the human back in forward flexion. *Journal of Biomedical Engineering*, 11(3), 219-223.

- Holzapfel, G. A., Schulze-Bauer, C. A., Feigl, G., & Regitnig, P. (2005). Single lamellar mechanics of the human lumbar anulus fibrosus. *Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology*, 3(3), 125-140.
- Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., Woolf, A., Bain, C., et al. (2014). The global burden of low back pain: Estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *73*(6), 968-974.
- Hukins D.W.L., Disc structure and function. In: *The Biology of the Intervertebral Disc*, vol 1, pp 1-37. Ed by P Ghosh. Boca Raton, CRC Press, 1988.
- Iatridis, J. C., & Gwynn, I. (2004). Mechanisms for mechanical damage in the intervertebral disc annulus fibrosus. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *37*(8), 1165-1175.
- Iatridis, J. C., MaClean, J. J., & Ryan, D. A. (2005). Mechanical damage to the intervertebral disc annulus fibrosus subjected to tensile loading. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 38(3), 557-565.
- Jordon, J., Konstantinous, K., & O'Dowd, J. (2009). Herniated lumbar disc. *Clinical Evidence*, 2009,1118.
- Kelsey, J. L., Githens, P. B., White, A. A., Holford, T. R., Walter, S. D., O'Connor, T. et al. (1984). An epidemiologic study of lifting and twisting on the job and risk for acute prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 2(1), 61-66.
- Klein, J. A., & Hukins, D. W. (1982). Collagen fibre orientation in the annulus fibrosus of intervertebral disc during bending and torsion measured by x-ray diffraction. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 719(1), 98-101.
- Korecki, C. L., MacLean, J. J., Iatridis, J. C. (2008). Dynamic compression effects on intervertebral disc mechanics and biology. *Spine*, *33*(13), 1403-1409.

- Krismer, M., Haid, C., & Rabl, W. (1996). The contribution of anulus fibers to torque resistance. *Spine*, *21*(22), 2551-2557.
- Li, G., Wang, S., Passias, P., Xia, Q., Li, G., & Wood, K. (2009). Segmental in vivo vertebral motion during functional human lumbar spine activities. *European Spine Journal*, 18(7), 1013-1021.
- Lu, Y. M., Hutton, W. C., & Gharpuray, V. M. (1996). Do bending, twisting, and diurnal fluid changes in the disc affect the propensity to prolapse? A viscoelastic finite element model. *Spine*, 21(22), 2570-2579.
- Lundon, K. (2007). The effect of mechanical load on soft connective tissues. In *Functional Soft-Tissue Examination and Treatment by Manual Methods* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.) (pp. 15-27). Mississauga, ON: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Lundon, K., & Bolton, K. (2001). Structure and function of the lumbar intervertebral disk in healthy, aging and pathologic conditions. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, 31(6), 291-306.
- Marchand, F., & Ahmed, A. M. (1990). Investigation of the laminate structure of lumbar disc anulus fibrosus. *Spine*, *15*(5), 402-410.
- Marshall, L. W., & McGill, S. M. (2010). The role of axial torque in disc herniation. *Clinical Biomechanics*, *25*(1), 6-9.
- Melrose, J., Smith, S. M., Appleyard, R. C., & Little, C. B. (2008). Aggrecan, versican and type VI collagen are components of annulus translamellar crossbridges in the intervertebral disc. *European Spine Journal*, 17(2), 314-324.

- Mengoni, M., Luxmoore, B. J., Wijayathunga, V. N., Jones, A. C., Brom, N. D., & Wilcox, R. K. (2015). Derivation of inter-lamellar behaviour of the intervertebral disc annulus. *Journal* of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials, 48, 164-172.
- Michalek, A. J., Buckley, M. R., Bonassar, L. J., Cohen, I., & Iatridis, J. C. (2009). Measurement of local strains in intervertebral disc anulus fibrosus tissue under dynamic shear :
  Contributions of matrix fiber orientation and elastin content. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *42*(14), 2279–2285
- Monaco, L. A. (2014). Comparative analysis of selected model species used in human intervertebral disc research (Unpublished master's thesis). Wilfrid Laurier University.
- Monaco, L. A., DeWitte-Orr, S. J., Gregory, D. E. (2016). A comparison between porcine, ovine, and bovine intervertebral disc anatomy and single lamellae annulus fibrosus tensile properties. *Journal of Morphology*, 277(2), 244-251.
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). (1981). *Work practices guide for manual lifting*. Department of Health and Human resources (DHHS), NIOSH Publication No 81-122. Cincinnati, OH
- O'Connell, G. D., Vresilovic, E. G., & Elliot, D. M. (2007). Comparison of animals used in disc research to human lumbar disc geometry. *Spine*, *32*(3), 328-333.
- Pearcy, M. J., & Hindle, R. J. (1991). Axial rotation of lumbar intervertebral joints in forward flexion. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, 205*(4), 205-209.
- Pearcy, M. J., & Tibrewal, S. B. (1984). Axial rotation and lateral bending in the normal lumbar spine measured by three-dimensional radiography. *Spine*, *9*(6), 582-587.

- Pezowicz, C. A., Robertson, P. A., & Broom, N. D. (2005). Intralamellar relationships within the collagenous architecture of the annulus fibrosus imaged in its fully hydrated state. *Journal of Anatomy*, 207(4), 299-312.
- Pezowicz, C. A., Robertson, P. A., & Broom, N. D. (2006). The structural basis of interlamellar cohesion in the intervertebral disc. *Journal of Anatomy*, 208(3), 317-330.
- Schechtman, H., Robertson, P. A., & Broom, N. D. (2006). Failure strength of the bovine caudal disc under internal hydrostatic pressure. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *39*(8), 1401-1409.
- Schmidt, H., Kettler, A., Heuer, F., Simon, U., Claes, L., & Wilke, H-J. (2007). Intradiscal pressure, shear strain, and fiber strain in the intervertebral disc under combined loading. *Spine*, 32(7), 748-755.
- Shan, X., Ning, X., Chen, Z., Ding, M., Shi, W., & Yang, S. (2013). Low back pain development response to sustained trunk axial twisting. *European Spine Journal*, 22(9), 1972-1978.
- Shirazi-Adl, A., Ahmed, A. M., & Shrivastava, S. C. (1986). Mechanical response of a lumbar motion segment in axial torque alone and combined with compression. *Spine*, 11(9), 914-927.
- Showalter, B. L., Beckstein, J. C., Martin, J. T., Beattie, E. E., Orias, A. A. E., Schaer, T. P. et al. (2012). Comparison of animal discs used in disc research to human lumbar disc: Torsion mechanics and collagen content. *Spine*, *37*(15), E900-E907.
- Simunic, D., Robertson, P. A., & Broom, N. D. (2004). Mechanically induced disruption of the healthy bovine intervertebral disc. *Spine*, *29*(9), 972-978.
- Skaggs, D. L., Weidenbaum, M., Iatridis, J. C., Ratclife, A., & Mow, V. C. (1994). Regional variations in tensile properties and biochemical composition of the human lumbar anulus fibrosus. *Spine*, 19(12), 1310-1319.

- Smith, L. J., Byers, S., Costi, J. J., & Fazzalari, N. L. (2008). Elastic fibers enhance the mechanical integrity of the human lumbar anulus fibrosus in the radial direction. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 36(2), 214–223.
- Smith L. J., & Fazzalari, N. L. (2009). The elastic fibre network of the human lumbar annulus fibrosus: Architecture, mechanical function and potential role in the progression of intervertebral disc degeneration. *European Spine Jouranl*, 18(4), 439-448.
- Stokes, I. A. F. (1988). Mechanical function of facet joints in the lumbar spine. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 3(2), 101-105.
- Stokes, I., & Greenapple, D. M. (1985). Measurement of surface deformation of soft tissue. Journal of Biomechanics, 18(1), 1-7.
- Tampier, C., Drake, J. D. M., Callaghan, J. P., & McGill, S. M. (2007). Progressive disc herniation: An investigation of the mechanism using radiologic, histochemical, and microscopic dissection techniques on a porcine model. *Spine*, 32(25), 2869-2874.
- Tsuji, H., Hirano, N., Oshima, H., Ishihara, H., Terahata, N., Motoe, T. (1993). Structural variation of the anterior and posterior anulus fibrosus in the development of human lumbar intervertebral disc. A risk factor for intervertebral disc rupture. *Spine, 18*(2), 204-210.
- Van Deursen, D. L., Snijders, C. J., Kingma, I., & van Dieën, J. H. (2001). In vitro torsioninduced stress distribution changes in porcine intervertebral discs. *Spine*, 26(23), 2582-2586.
- Veres, S. P., Robertson, P. A., & Broom, N. D. (2010). The influence of static torsion on disc herniation when combined with flexion. *European Spine Journal*, 19(9), 1468-1478.

- Yasuma, T., Makino, E., Saito, S., & Inui, M. (1986). Histological development of intervertebral disc herniation. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. American Volume*, 68(7), 1066-1072.
- f, J. P., Giangregorio, L., & McGill, S. M. (2010). The influence of intervertebral disc shape on the pathway of posterior/posterolateral partial herniation. *Spine*, *35*(7), 734-739.
- Yu, J., Fairbank, J. C. T., Roberts, S., & Urban, J. P. G. (2005). The elastic fiber network of the anulus fibrosus of the normal and scoliotic human intervertebral disc. *Spine*, *30*(16), 1815-1820.
- Yu, J., Tirlapur, U., Handford, P., Roberts, S., Winlove, C. P., Cui, Z. et al. (2007).
   Microfibrils, elastin fibres, collagen fibres in the human intervertebral disc and bovine tail disc. *Journal of Anatomy*, 210(4), 460-471.